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  For our kids:

  Sammy, Jimmy,

  Sofiabella,

  and

  Casey.

  Jack and Patrick


  Prologue

  IN 1770, WHEN this country was in its birth throes, the most hated man in America was a man named Captain Thomas Preston. He was the commander of a small cadre of British soldiers who fired upon a gathering of disgruntled colonists, killing five. This event came to be known as the Boston Massacre. The five men who died as a result of this event are considered by most historians to be the first casualties of the Revolutionary War.

  As is always the case, there were two sides to the story as to why this tragedy occurred. The colonists, led primarily by Sam Adams, one of the most outspoken writers and revolutionaries of the day, claimed that the British fired upon a peaceful crowd and killed five patriots without just cause. The British soldiers claimed that they had fired upon an angry mob in self-defense.

  There are two reasons that will cause good men to abandon their long-standing, dearly held morals, values, and principles and revert to more primitive, barbaric practices to resolve conflict. That is when their hearts are filled with anger or when their hearts are filled with fear.

  Because the colonists were angry over taxes imposed by the British without representation, along with other perceived injustices, and because they were fearful of the sheer might of the British Crown, in general, and of the soldiers that were now being billeted in their town to quell potential uprisings, in particular, their hearts were filled with both.

  They wanted revenge against the British captain and the British soldiers under his command. Evidence be damned, facts be damned, they wanted revenge that was swift and sure. They wanted the heads of the captain and his men on a spit.

  One man came forth and said loud and clear, “I stand for the law.”

  The man that took the soldiers’ case when no other man would stand in their defense was John Adams.

  John Adams, one of our nation’s true founding fathers, a signer of the Declaration of Independence, our first vice president, our second president of the United States, a man of principle. (He was also Sam Adam’s cousin and friend.)

  His response was said to be this: “Counsel is the last thing an accused person should lack in a free country.” He agreed to defend these men in spite of what it might do to his reputation, to his law practice, or to his future plans. He took the case because he believed that free men had certain rights. These were among the heartfelt principles on which he built his life.

  Those principles are woven into the fabric of our Constitution. Those principles represent our principles as Americans. Every person accused of a crime shall have the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury of his peers. Every person so accused shall have the right to face his accuser in a court of law. Every person so accused shall have the right to counsel.

  Many men and women have fought and died to preserve those principles, those rights.

  So keep that in mind when you hear someone say that this crime is too gruesome, or this person is too dangerous, or this issue is too complicated to allow those principles to stand.

  (This includes the frightened flock that today seeks to exclude terrorists from those principles.)

  Keep in mind that the very men that John Adams defended were uniformed members of an army of a foreign power that would soon become an enemy. Still, they had their day in court. There is no just cause or justification to usurp the Constitution.

  Remember the words of Judge Louis Garippo when he said through tears of pride, “What we do for the John Gacys, we’ll do for everyone.”

  
    I will serve, protect, and defend the Constitution of the United States against all enemies, foreign and domestic.

  

  That is the oath we ask our president to take, together with every other person in public service. Every member of our military takes that oath. Every lawyer takes that oath. Every American citizen lives by that oath.

  It does not say, “I will serve, protect, and defend the popularity polls, or the will of the people, or the frightened masses.” It does not say, “I will serve, protect, and defend the Constitution, unless . . .” There are no conditions or qualifications.

  When harried and nervous people jump in front of microphones and scream and rail that we should suddenly do something in direct contravention to that upon which we have based our very system of justice; when they tell you that we should abandon that which men have fought and died for and which has worked so well since the beginning of this beautiful experiment that we call America in favor of that which we have always criticized about lesser countries . . .

  Kindly . . . invite them to pound sand.


  In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.

  —The Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America


  1

  “SAM, COULD YOU do me a favor?”

  A telephone call, seven short words, a simple-enough request. That’s how it all began.

  I knew the guy on the other end of the line. Everyone on the Northwest Side did. He was a political wannabe, one of those guys that was always around, talking about all the big shots he knew, hoping that the importance of others would rub off on him, a nice-enough guy—maybe a little pushy, a bit of a blowhard, telling tall tales, but still, a nice-enough guy. He was a precinct captain for the Norwood Park Township Regular Democratic Organization, and so was I. He was actually one of the best precinct captains they ever had, better than me, some might tell you. He really brought in the votes for that tiny organization.

  I had met him at one function or another. He always bought a full table at all the fund-raisers, ten tickets, which translated into a sizable contribution to the party; and then he’d fill the ten seats with kids that looked like they really didn’t wear business suits very often, unsophisticated . . . that would be a kind way to put it. They were usually his employees, young kids that worked for his contracting business.

  Plus, he was on the Norwood Park Township Street Lighting District as a trustee, the secretary-treasurer, and I did some volunteer work on the side for the district. I was their lawyer. So I knew him.

  “What’s the problem, John?”

  “You know all of the coppers over in Des Plaines, don’t you, Sam?”

  “Sure, John, I know most of them. We all used to work on different sides of the same building. I have worked on cases with most of them. Why?”

  “Well, the Des Plaines police are following me around wherever I go. I have no idea why, but they’re starting to cause problems for my business. It’s really beginning to annoy me, Sam. It’s getting nuts. Could you ask around and try to find out what the fuck they want, what they think I did, why the hell they are harassing me like this?”

  He seemed genuinely upset—livid, one might say.

  “What do you mean following you around wherever you go? How do you know?” Maybe he was just paranoid, imagining things, I thought.

  There was a disgusted chuckle at the other end of the line. “If I am at a restaurant having breakfast in a booth, they are in the booth next to me. If I stop at a gas station to get gas, they are waiting across the street for me to finish. Wherever I go, they follow. No matter how fast I drive or how slow I drive, they are always right behind me. They sit outside of my house all night long until I leave in the morning. Then we all leave together. My neighbors are starting to complain.”

  Hmm, maybe this wasn’t just paranoia.

  I sat there wondering why in the world the Des Plaines police would have any interest whatsoever, but especially such an intense interest, in this rather-overblown, self-important hanger-on.

  “How long has this been going on, John?”

  “A few days, I think.”

  “And you have no idea why they are interested in you?”

  “One of them said something about a missing teenager. I don’t know. I sure as hell don’t know anything about any missing kid.”

  “Let me see what I can find out. I will look into it.”

  “I’ll owe you one, Sam. I really appreciate this.”

  “Call me tomorrow.”

  “Thanks, Sam.”

  I hung up the phone and thought for a second about how John Gacy had once been to my house in his capacity as a contractor. My wife and I were planning an addition to our home to accommodate our expanding family. Our second son, Jimmy, had been born, and we wanted to add a new room, a nursery. That’s what my wife, Mary, called it, anyway. I called it a bedroom.

  We did not end up hiring him, but we seriously considered it. So, like I said, I knew him. I thought I knew him pretty well. What I didn’t know, however, what he didn’t mention during our short telephone conversation, was this:

  On Monday, December 11, 1978, just three short days previous, John Wayne Gacy had an appointment at Nisson Pharmacy, a busy drug and sundries store located at 1920 E. Touhy Avenue in Des Plaines, Illinois. He had done some remodeling work at that establishment in the past, and when brothers Phil and Larry Torf, the owners of the store, decided to add some shelving and make some other changes, Phil called John.

  Mr. Gacy arrived in his brand-new black four-door 1979 Oldsmobile 98 promptly at 5:30 p.m., as agreed, and parked in front of the store just off Touhy. There was snow and slush left over from a typical Chicagoland December snowfall, which would melt some during the day and freeze up solid during the night. John negotiated the puddles left over from the day’s thaw and thought about offering to return with his snowplow to clear the parking area completely, thereby alleviating the puddle problem—he did plowing as a side business—but once inside the store, he was distracted by other things and never made the offer.

  He shivered as he unzipped his black leather bomber jacket, stamped his feet on the matting just inside the door, and shook off the damp chill from the outdoors. He immediately saw Phil Torf coming from the rear of the store to meet him, and he lumbered his rather-cumbersome two-hundred-plus-pound five-foot-nine-inch frame down the aisle, big fleshy hand extended in greeting. As he passed the cash register, he smiled at the young cashier, Kim Byers, bundled up in an ill-fitting oversized light blue nylon down parka because she was exposed to the arctic blasts from the open doors every time a customer came in or went out. He made a mental note to attempt to sell the Torf brothers on a revolving door system to replace the simple double doors that presently existed and were the only thing blocking out the crisp December air. They are heating the outdoors and exposing their poor little cashier to the elements in the process, he thought. She might catch her death from a cold or flu.

  He wasn’t sure if he remembered Kim from his last extended visit to the store when he did the previous remodeling job. Back then, he was an employee of P.E. Systems, a firm that specialized in remodeling and design for the pharmacy industry. He had learned a lot from his time spent with that company, and now he was returning as the proud owner and proprietor of PDM Contractors (Painting, Decorating, and Maintenance), the company he had founded after he left P.E. Systems.

  John and Phil shot the shit for quite a while before the contractor got down to business, taking measurements and figuring out a quote. During his time at the store, he was introduced, or in some cases reintroduced, to many of the employees; most of them were young kids working part-time after highschool to make some extra spending money, save for college, or save for a car.

  One such part-timer was Rob Piest, a fifteen-year-old sophomore and budding star gymnast at Maine West Highschool in Des Plaines. Rob fell into the save-for-a-car category, and he was becoming increasingly frustrated at the seemingly insurmountable task of saving enough money to purchase a reliable car on his $2.85/hour wage at the pharmacy. He had looked at a Jeep and was getting close to his goal; he had $900, but it seemed to him to be taking forever. He wanted to make more money. He was fuming a bit because his employers had rebuffed his previous requests for a raise.

  Rob had not been introduced to John Gacy; he was much too busy working, but he thought he had overheard the contractor talking to Linda Mertes, a longtime employee at the pharmacy, about his policy to pay his young workers $5 per hour to start. He couldn’t believe that a highschool kid working part-time could make that much money. Linda later confirmed this fact to Rob, and he was intrigued, to say the least. Imagine making nearly twice as much money each and every hour! Rob was fast approaching his sixteenth birthday, and he, like every other teen his age, wanted to be ready when that magical age arrived—sixteen years old, the age when he would finally get his driver’s license.

  At 7:15 p.m., when Mr. Gacy finished his business at the pharmacy and left the store in his shiny new car, Rob was slightly disappointed. He hadn’t had the opportunity to approach the man with an offer to work for him. He had, however, noticed that while the contractor was taking measurements and “walking off” the store, writing up his proposal and speaking with Mr. Torf, the guy seemed to be looking at Rob, watching him work. This happened more than once during the time the man was in the store. Rob was sure that the fat guy with the fancy new black luxury cruiser was impressed with his hardworking style, his attention to the task at hand, the overall way he worked so hard at his job. Maybe if he approached him later, called him on the phone or something, Mr. Gacy would give him a job that paid $5 per hour. If that happened, Rob would be driving his own brand-new Jeep before he knew it.

  Meanwhile, John Gacy was speeding south on Interstate 294 on his way home from what he was sure was yet another successful bid for a new remodeling job. He had become adept at schmoozing the potential customer. He had long ago realized that he wasn’t just selling the job, the work itself—he was selling himself. There were hundreds of guys that could do that job as well as he could, although he did pride himself in his attention to detail. He considered himself a perfectionist; lots of contractors did good work, but they didn’t have his stories, his jokes, and his knack for befriending the customer. The $1,600 proposal that he had left with Phil Torf was money in the bank as far as he was concerned.

  As John negotiated the ramp that led to the Kennedy Expressway and moved to the right lane where he would exit south at Cumberland Avenue, he looked at the seat next to him, then all around the interior of the car. “Fuck,” he muttered to himself. “I left my damn appointment book at Torf’s place.” John was close to his home at 8213 W. Summerdale. It was just east of Cumberland, so he decided to continue home to check his answering machine before he made the trek back to Des Plaines. He also figured he might as well take his black Chevy pickup with the snowplow attached on his return. Maybe he would pick up some further business while he was there. Perhaps it would not be a totally wasted trip.

  When Gacy checked his answering machine, he was reminded that he was late for another appointment that he had made with Richard Raphael, a business associate who lived in Glenview, Illinois. John knew he had to hurry but he figured Des Plaines was on the way to Glenview. It would all work out.

  Had he not forgotten his address book, he would not have gone back to the pharmacy that evening. He would have driven straight to Glenview.

  [image: image]

  That evening, when John Wayne Gacy pulled up in front of Nisson Pharmacy for the second time, it was just past 8:00 p.m. He had made record time traveling back because he rarely paid any attention to speed limits. He thought of himself as someone far above those poor little souls that had to bother themselves with such mundane rules. He was much too important a figure to have to worry about speeding tickets. He would simply have them “fixed.” He knew all the right people in all the right places.

  As his pickup truck squeaked to a stop in front of the drugstore with its second set of headlights blazing above the snowplow, he noticed the kid that he had seen stocking shelves earlier carrying some trash out to the Dumpster in the alley. He watched as a young girl threw a snowball at him and ran away to join her friends, giggling and laughing. She was obviously someone he knew from school or from the neighborhood. The kid was wearing the same blue nylon parka that he had seen on the cashier earlier that evening. It was Rob Piest.

  “You are a hard worker,” Gacy said through the side window of his truck.

  Rob looked up, squinting into the bright lights over the plow. John switched them off, allowing Rob to see who was talking to him.

  “Oh, hi, Mr. Gacy.” He pointed to the pickup truck. “Different ride.”

  “How did you know my name?”

  “Linda told me. She said something about you looking for help . . . or something.”

  “I could use a hard worker like you. I bet I pay better than your boss, Phil, does too. You interested?”

  “Yeah . . . yes, I am, sir, but I gotta get back inside right now. I can’t let Mr. Torf see me talking to you about a job. You know what I mean. Plus, I’m on the clock.”

  “Loyalty, I like that. It’s one of the qualities I like most. If I hang around till you get off, could we talk then?”

  “Sure, but my mom is coming to pick me up at nine o’clock.”

  “I’ll hang around. I have some more measurements that I have to take anyway,” Gacy lied. “Then we can talk. It won’t take long to exchange information. Right? Would that be OK?”

  “That would be great, Mr. Gacy.” Rob ran into the store. He was giddy. He could already see himself driving his brand-new Jeep.

  John watched Rob enter the store and throw his jacket on some boxes near the cash register. Then he sauntered into the store as if nothing had happened, where he immediately saw Phil holding his appointment book.

  “Did you forget something?” Phil asked, smiling, taunting him.

  About five minutes before nine o’clock, John, while he futzed around pretending to remeasure the shelves in the store, saw a woman, who was obviously Rob’s mother, enter the pharmacy. She spoke to some of the other kids and to her son and then meandered toward the greeting card section to wait for her son to finish up. John went outside to his truck. He surreptitiously eyed Rob and nodded toward the door as he left, all in keeping with their plan to meet without alerting Phil Torf.

  Minutes later, Rob grabbed his coat, mumbled something to his mother about what he was planning, and ran out the door.

  Rob Piest was never seen alive again.

  ___________________

  “WHAT’S YOUR NAME? What do your friends call you?” Gacy asked this as soon as he saw Rob bound enthusiastically out of the pharmacy. John had the engine running, and the cab of the truck was beginning to warm up.

  “Rob . . . Rob Piest.”

  “Hop in, Rob.”

  “Ah . . . , Mr. Gacy, my mom is inside the store. She is here to pick me up.”

  “Don’t worry, Rob, I’ll take you home. She will understand. Won’t she?”

  “But, sir, it’s her birthday. My family is waiting at home for me so we can cut the cake and sing ‘Happy Birthday’ . . . all of that. I really have to be quick about this.”

  Everyone who ever knew John Gacy knew one thing about him—he was a master manipulator. He could sell ice cubes to Eskimos. He had the Polish version of the gift of gab. John had already decided that this young man was coming home with him. He was not taking “no” for an answer.

  “You love your mother,” he asked the question in the form of a statement, a foregone conclusion.

  “Well, yeah, of course I do,” Rob promptly answered.

  “Imagine coming home with the news that you have landed a new job that pays $5 per hour to start, a job with perks and a future. She would be happy for you, wouldn’t she? That would make her happy, wouldn’t it?”

  “Sure, it would.”

  “And what better present could you give to your mom on her birthday than to make her happy? Isn’t that the purpose of a present?”

  “I guess so . . .”

  “I have been watching you work, Rob. You have a great work ethic. I am also impressed by your devotion to your mom. Hell, I love my mom too. All true men should love their mothers. But I need for you to fill out some forms if you are going to work for me, and those forms are in my office at my house, which is about twenty minutes from here. I can have you back in about forty or forty-five minutes, an hour, tops. Only, in an hour from now, when you walk into the house, you will be able to tell that wonderful mother of yours that you have a new, well-paying job, that you have doubled your salary. What do you say? I have an appointment myself that I must get to after I drop you. You do want the job, don’t you?”

  “Are you saying I have the job, Mr. Gacy?” Rob was bubbling over with excitement. Five dollars per hour! He could easily make $100 per week. He would have enough for his Jeep well before his birthday in March. This was a dream come true.

  “You will when we finish filling out those forms. We have to comply with all of the legal stuff, after all, right? No employer can afford to play fast and loose with the goddamn IRS.”

  Rob glanced back at the door of the pharmacy, thought for a second about how happy his mom would be when he told her about his new job; then he put his hand on the passenger-side door handle of the truck, opened the door, and jumped up into the pickup. He looked at his new boss.

  Mr. Gacy had a big toothy grin peeking out from below the bushy mustache that he wore, creasing the flabby jowls hanging off his beard-stubbled face. “Welcome aboard,” he said through his ear-to-ear smile. He was pleased with himself. And then they drove off.

  “I have a good feeling about this. I think this just might work out well for both of us,” John said as he drove at breakneck speed.

  “Don’t you worry about getting a ticket, Mr. Gacy?”

  “First, call me John, or Colonel. I’m an official Tennessee colonel. All my guys call me Colonel or John. Mr. Gacy was my father. Second, you will come to know that you are about to start working for a very important guy. I know people. I know some of the most important people in this city. I’m a personal friend of Mayor Bilandic’s. Plus, I’m connected. Syndicate connected. You will learn a lot working with me, kid. Wait and see.”

  Judging by the way Mr. Gacy drove, Rob tended to believe what he was being told. Nobody would drive like this unless he was pretty sure he was not going to get in trouble for it.

  “Plus, you will find that working for PDM is fun. We work hard, don’t get me wrong. But when work is done, we play hard too. You do like to party, don’t you?”

  “Sure . . . I guess.”

  “Do you have a girlfriend?”

  “I date. I guess. I go out with girls that are a few years older than me, usually.” Rob blushed, but he was also a little proud. “I do all right.” They both laughed. It was unnecessary to say more.

  “Well, I’m very liberal minded when it comes to all that. The guys that work for me often use my house as a place to party. I have a well-stocked party house—no parents allowed.” Again, the big toothy grin.

  “Well, I’m looking forward to it. I really need the money. I want to buy this car that I have my eye on. It’s a Jeep, actually. So I will work really hard, Mr. Gacy, err . . . ah, John. I promise. You won’t regret this.”

  “You seemed hungry, eager to work, to do a good job. At least that is what I saw back at the pharmacy. You never even took a break. Everybody else seemed to be using my visit as a chance to slack off, but you just kept working. I like that.”

  “Well, I need money right now. I would do almost anything for money.”

  This statement elicited a new, kind of creepy, version of the same smile. Gacy chuckled low. “That’s what I like to hear. You’re going to do fine, just fine.”

  When the truck careened into Gacy’s driveway at his Summerdale address, splashing and sliding, Rob was glad to be in one piece. It had been quite a ride. However, John was right. They had arrived in just over twenty minutes. John pulled the truck past the circular drive in front of the house and along the side. The house was completely set off from the neighbor’s house by a huge hedgerow along the side of the driveway. It had to be at least eight feet high and was a bit of an eyesore. I guess this guy really likes his privacy, Rob thought. He also saw the brand-new Olds 98 parked in front. The car had spotlights on both sides of the windshield and a CB antenna sticking into the air. The passenger-side spotlight was red. This supported some of the stories that John had told to Rob on the drive there. He must really be an important guy. His car was like a cop car, or even a mayor’s car. It looked important.

  Gacy ushered Rob into his house through the back door, which opened into a large recreation room, obviously an addition to the original structure. The room had a large black recliner opposite the TV, a pool table, a well-stocked bar with barstools in front next to a refrigerator, and then a corridor that led to the rest of the house. A little yapping dog was making a bit of a racket and jumping up and down, so John let him out into the backyard.

  “Check it out. Make yourself at home,” Gacy said as he pointed the way to the rest of the house.” He took off his black leather jacket and dropped his car keys on a table. “You will probably be spending a lot of time here.”

  In the front of the house, a newly constructed temporary wall divided the original living room. The smaller living room left by this division was full of plants and pictures of clowns, very little furniture. As Rob looked around, he saw more clown portraits and clown knickknacks. John’s office was also in the front of the house, as well as a couple of bedrooms. Rob didn’t venture that way but returned to the rec room.

  “What’s with all the clowns?” Rob asked casually.

  “I’m a clown.”

  Rob laughed.

  “No, really, no joke. I am a registered clown. I’m Pogo. I entertain kids in hospitals and seniors at old folks’ homes. I do tricks for the kids, tell jokes for the old fogies. I march in parades. It’s a hobby. I’ll show you some of my tricks. Hey, you want a beer or something?” John was bending down, head into the refrigerator. “I’m having one,” he said over his shoulder.

  “Thank you, Mr. Gacy . . . ah . . . John. I’m not saying I would never have one, but I have to think about my mom’s birthday, remember?”

  “Oh, lighten up, Rob, this is your interview. Don’t disappoint your future boss during your first job interview. That’s not a good idea, is it? We can be at your parents’ house in twenty minutes. Sit down. Have one beer. Let’s talk.” John was now standing in front of the refrigerator, holding two beers, still sporting that same creepy smile.

  Rob was torn. On the one hand, he could picture his very close-knit family at home. By now, almost a half hour after he should have been pulling into the driveway in his mother’s car, they were all beginning to wonder where the heck he was—his mother worried, his father starting to get a little pissed, his brother and his sister perplexed, the birthday cake waiting. He had never done anything like this in the past.

  On the other hand, here was this unusual man offering him the job of his dreams, a pathway to the car of his dreams. He sure as hell had never had an adult offer him a beer before. That he thought was a little strange. But what could it hurt? If having a beer with his future boss would solidify the job offer—close the deal, so to speak—why not? If spending fifteen or twenty minutes with this dufuss would get him this job, he felt he had to do it. His parents would not be mad at him once he explained that he had secured a great new $5-an-hour job. He had been to highschool parties before. It was not the first time he had accepted a beer from someone. He took the beer from John Wayne Gacy’s fat, stubby fingers. Tragically, it would be his last.

  He took a sip and sat down on one of the barstools. He watched John sit in his recliner. Then he asked, “So you have some papers for me to fill out?”

  John looked annoyed. “You are really all business, aren’t you? You have to learn how to relax, Rob.” John rose out of his recliner and stomped off toward his office in the front of the house, shaking his head. “I’ll get the papers,” he said, sounding exasperated, “but I want to get to know you a little bit before we make this final. I don’t hire just anybody. My guys have to be a good fit for the way we work. I told you, we work hard. But we also play hard and . . .” His voice trailed off as he got farther into the front part of the house. Rob could not hear the rest of what John was saying, but he had heard enough. He had no intention of blowing his chances to get this job. He tried to relax. He tried to ignore the alarm bells that were already starting to clang in his head.

  In his office, Gacy was smiling. He knew he had just set the hook. Any further attempts by this fish to get off the line would be futile.

  When Gacy returned from his office, he was holding some items of paperwork that looked like official IRS forms and a job application, but he was also carrying something else that made the hairs on the back of Rob’s neck stand. He was holding a set of handcuffs.

  “OK, we are going to fill these out,” Gacy said, raising the papers above his head, shaking them. “But first I have to show you something cool. Watch this.” John put the papers down on the bar. He twirled the handcuffs around on his index finger. He began to make moves like a showman. He was doing his clown act. He was smiling, not threatening. He overacted his big, sweeping moves like a magician. He began humming some kind of stupid show tune. He showed Rob the handcuffs. Abruptly, he yanked them taut, demonstrating that they were quite real, quite strong. Then he slapped them on his own wrists, first one then the other. Again, he showed them to Rob. Again, he yanked them taut. They clinked. Clearly, John was in handcuffs. He yanked them taut again, harder. He turned around, facing away from Rob; and in seconds, he turned back. When he did, he was twirling the handcuffs on his index finger.

  Two things happened. The fear that had first gripped Rob when he saw the handcuffs drained away completely. He was fully disarmed. Plus, he was actually astonished. This was a real, professional, well-executed trick.

  “How did you do that?” Rob asked, completely befuddled.

  “That’s nothing,” John said. “Watch this.” He handed Rob the handcuffs. “You put them on me. Only this time”—John turned around, placing his hands behind his back—“you cuff my hands behind my back.”

  Rob was actually intrigued. He was totally taken in. He slapped the cuffs on his new boss’s wrists. Then he inspected them, checking them for trick latches. There were none.

  “OK, are you satisfied that I am clearly handcuffed, unable to escape?”

  Gacy had a flair for the dramatic. Rob could hear the drumroll.

  Gacy turned around, facing Rob. Then in seconds, he was standing there twirling the handcuffs on his index finger once again, with a big gawking smile on his face.

  “What the fuck!” Rob exclaimed. “How the heck did you do that?”

  “I’ll show you. It’s easy. Give me your right hand.”

  Rob didn’t think. He simply slid off the barstool and raised his right hand and held it out in front of him.

  Gacy took his right hand, slapped a cuff on it, spun Rob around, and handcuffed his left hand into the handcuffs behind his back.

  The two of them had walked into that house less than fifteen minutes before this moment, and suddenly Robert Jerome Piest, age fifteen, was standing face-to-face with John Wayne Gacy, age thirty-six, with his hands locked in handcuffs behind his back, unable to free himself.

  “OK, John, what’s the trick?” Rob was smiling, innocent, waiting to learn the trick that his boss was going to show him.

  “The trick,” John Wayne Gacy sneered, “is not being dumb and stupid.” He was holding a shiny tiny silver key. “Everyone knows that the only sure way to free yourself from locked handcuffs is to have the key. Do you have the key, Rob? Or are you dumb and stupid?”

  Rob looked at John. He couldn’t believe it. It was as if he was looking at a different person. Gone was the goofy, creepy, familiar ear-to-ear smile. It had been replaced by a grave, stern, dead stare. But it wasn’t just that minor change that had caused the transformation, everybody stops smiling from time to time. It wasn’t that. Gacy’s eyes had gone lifeless. They had lost life’s twinkle. There seemed to be nothing behind them. No personality. No person. Rob thought he detected a brief flutter in the eyelid. The transformation struck a level of fear into Rob’s heart that wasn’t fear. It was terror.

  Rob felt his mouth dry up and his heart start to pump. A single tear welled up and streaked his cheek. The moment lasted a lifetime.

  Then like in a terrible B horror film, the telephone shrieked. Gacy looked toward the front of the house. When he looked back at Rob, he was John again, just like that.

  “I’ll let the machine get it.” John was so offhanded as he said this Rob couldn’t believe his ears. It was as though nothing had happened. Rob actually began to question whether anything had happened. Maybe it was all in his head, this silly fear. Gacy walked a few steps toward the corridor that led to the front of the house, leaving Rob standing there in handcuffs. He raised a finger and listened. He was listening to the answering machine. Rob couldn’t make out what was being said or who was talking.

  “That was your boss, your other boss, Phil Torf. Your parents must have called him. We have to get you home. They must be looking for you already.” John Gacy was holding that small silver key between his fingertips. “Let’s get those cuffs off of you.”

  Rob thought he was losing his mind. Had he simply imagined the whole terrifying interaction that had just occurred between them? Did he just scare himself half to death, or was there something unearthly sinister about this guy? As John was about to remove the handcuffs from Rob’s wrists, Rob recognized that John was talking and that he had not heard a word. He was too busy reliving his terror, questioning it.

  “So the trick is to learn how to palm the key so perfectly that no one ever even suspects you have it.” Rob heard the tail end of Gacy’s lecture. John was showing him how to hide the key between his fingers in such a way that he could still show his audience both of his palms. It was a pretty good trick. It had sure as hell fooled him. But what about those feelings, that fear—was it real?

  Again, the phone rang.

  Gacy again walked to the corridor so he could hear the answering machine. Rob stood there, still in handcuffs.

  “Is your father’s name Harold?” John asked when he returned to the rec room.

  “Yes, that’s my dad. What did he say?”

  “The machine answered. I just heard him on the tape. He knows you’re here, though. So you don’t have to be in such a rush. He didn’t sound pissed.”

  “Well, he wouldn’t sound pissed when he’s talking to you . . . or leaving a message. But that doesn’t mean they are not worried or angry that I am missing my mom’s birthday.” Rob was concerned. “We should probably start heading towards home.”

  “Before we do, before I remove those cuffs, I want to ask you a question. You told me that you would do almost anything for money, right?”

  “Yeah, John, I’m a hard worker, a very hard worker. I’ll do anything you ask. You cannot work me too hard.”

  “Yeah, yeah, we already talked about that. I know that you are a hard worker. But I was thinking about something else. Remember that I told you about how I was very liberal minded about sex? Well, I am. Now, don’t get me wrong, I’m no fruit picker. I ain’t a fag or anything like that, but a long time ago, this guy and I were out trying to pick up girls, and he said something interesting to me. He said that I had maybe a fifty-fifty shot at getting laid that night—or of even picking up a broad at all, for that matter—but he had a one hundred percent chance. I thought he was full of shit, of course. But he said it was true because if he struck out trying to pick up a girl, he just went out and picked up a guy. He said that it feels just as good to get a blow job from a guy as it does to get one from a girl. All you do is close your eyes.”

  As Gacy rambled on with his story, which Rob found repulsive, Rob felt the fear growing inside him again. When something seems too good to be true, it usually is, he thought. This guy was some kind of weirdo. Rob realized he was in some stranger’s house—an old, weird man’s house, locked in handcuffs. He began to feel that he was going to cry. He didn’t want to. He wanted to be strong. He felt that he had to hold it together.

  Gacy was continuing his story. “So I tried it. I let him do it to me, and believe it or not, he was right. A blowjob is a blowjob. No shit. Now, I say it again, I am no fruit picker. I ain’t gay. You can’t be gay if you are thinking about girls when you are doing it, right?”

  To Rob, it felt as though the walls of the room were closing in on him. He had no deep-set prejudice against gay people. That was not the problem. If Gacy had said that he was gay and came on to him, he could have sidestepped that without an uncomfortable incident. He had done it before. Most people had. But he was in handcuffs! This was different! He tried not to insult his captor.

  “John, that type of activity is just not in me,” he offered meekly. “It’s just not me.”

  Gacy looked at him. At first he looked surprised, as though he had not expected that reaction, as though he just assumed Rob would go along. Then it looked like he was getting angry.

  “I have a lot of money. I could help you get that Jeep,” he said.

  “No,” was all Rob could muster.

  “Suppose I just fucking rape you, you little fucking liar,” Gacy growled. “You said that you would do anything for money. You led me on! You lied to me!”

  Gacy moved toward Rob, reaching out at Rob’s pants, at his fly. He grabbed Rob by the waistband of his jeans and pulled him closer. Rob was unable to resist. He yanked at the handcuffs. They would not give. Gacy unzipped Rob’s zipper. He reached inside and touched him, grabbed at him. John tugged down on Rob’s jeans. Rob could feel his buttocks and thighs being exposed. No matter how hard he struggled, the handcuffs made it impossible to fight off this crazed man twice his size. Rob was now past terror. Was this a nightmare, or was it real? Why couldn’t he just wake up?

  At this point, Rob started to break down. He began to sob uncontrollably. “Stop this! Please don’t do this!” he screamed.

  He looked at Gacy, whose face immediately began to soften. Then to Rob’s amazement, he began to apologize profusely, over and over again. What the fuck is this, Rob thought, a goddamn roller-coaster ride? One minute this fucking nut is scaring the shit out of me, and the next minute he’s Mr. Nice Guy. His heart was returning to its normal beating.

  John removed the handcuffs, and as Rob rubbed his wrists a bit to restore his blood flow, he said, “I hope you understand, Mr. Gacy.” He didn’t want to set him off again. He chose his words carefully. “I would do it if I could, but I can’t. I am just not that way.”

  “Don’t say anything. It was a dumb idea,” John said. “Dumb and stupid. I’m really sorry if I made you feel uncomfortable or scared. I ain’t no fag, Rob. You have to believe me. I am no kind of fruit picker.”

  “You had me going there.”

  “Forget about it. Let’s never talk about it again, OK? You still want the job, right?”

  “Yeah, yes, I do. I really need the money.” At this point, Rob would say anything that he thought John wanted to hear. Wild horses could not have dragged him back to that house, but he had to say something.

  “OK, then, we start from scratch. This never happened, right? And it will never happen again, OK?”

  “OK, John, but I really have to get home. Is that all right?”

  Suddenly, John was all for the idea. He began moving around as though he was getting ready to leave, mumbling, making sure he had everything, patting his pockets. Rob was somewhat relieved, but still frightened. It had been an interesting first meeting, to say the least. That was the understatement of all time.

  “Make sure you bring those papers. We can fill them out in the car,” John said offhandedly, pointing at the bar.

  Rob grabbed the papers from the bar as he watched John Gacy walk around his house, preparing to leave. He thought it ironic that after all that had occurred, the papers were an afterthought. That was ostensibly the main reason they had gone to John’s house in the first place. Unbeknownst to Rob, he was about to learn another reason that he was there—the real reason.

  Rob had his hand on the doorknob. “I thought you were going to kill me, John. I thought you were some kind of crazy person.” Rob looked back at John Wayne Gacy, who was standing behind him

  “One second, I’ll show you one quick trick for the road. Put down your coat for a second. You’ll love this.” Gacy had a length of rope in his hand and the handle of a hammer without a hammerhead on it. He was tying knots into the rope, very meticulously. He had done this before. He was practiced. He slid the handle of the hammer between the knots. “Now, watch this,” he said.

  Gacy slid the rope over Rob’s head. It was loose, not threatening.

  “Why are you putting it over my head?” Rob asked, nervously laughing.

  “Just watch,” Gacy whispered.

  Those were Rob Piest’s last words.

  In a split second, Gacy had twisted the hammer handle twice, instantly tightening the rope around Rob’s neck. To struggle was a mistake, because that made the rope tighter. To panic was fatal. Unfortunately, Rob panicked. The hammer handle was lodged tightly, permanently against Rob’s back. Gacy no longer had to hold on to it. The rope would not unwind; it would not loosen. Rob’s eyes bulged as he gasped for air and clawed at the rope. He was free to scramble and struggle as Gacy passively watched, thumbs in his waistband. The more he struggled, the tighter the rope got.

  Gacy whispered again, “Dumb and stupid.” He shook his head as though he was looking at the proverbial two-year-old caught with his hand in the cookie jar. “Dumb and stupid.”

  Rob fell to the floor. He thrashed, he struggled, he fought valiantly, but, as stated, Gacy had done this before. He was practiced.

  The last thing Rob Piest heard out of the velvet blackness of approaching death was Gacy’s telephone ringing.

  John Wayne Gacy left Robert Jerome Piest lying on the floor gagging, surrendering, sucking in his final breaths of oxygen as he went to answer his telephone. “You think you can fool me, you fucking little lying homo,” Gacy spat out as he lumbered off.

  It was just past ten. Rob and John had been in John’s house a little over a half hour.

  On the phone, Richard Raphael was angry. John never showed for their meeting. Gacy made several disjointed excuses. His uncle was sick. His uncle might die. He might have to go to the hospital. He was too tired. He forgot. They would meet at John’s house tomorrow at 7:00 a.m. “Don’t be late.” Gacy was completely unaffected by the night’s tragic, morbid occurrence. Richard Raphael noticed nothing whatsoever wrong or different about Gacy’s voice when they spoke. Same old John.

  Gacy closed Rob’s eyes and manipulated his face in an effort to soften the grotesquely contorted frozen facial features of the strangled boy and stuffed a wad or two of paper into Rob’s mouth because he didn’t want him to leak fluids all over the place. He lifted the limp corpse of Rob Piest, carried it down the hall, and placed it onto his own bed in his bedroom.

  Again the telephone rang.

  “Now what?” Gacy mumbled. He answered the phone while Rob Piest’s body lay quiet.

  On the line was Gacy’s aunt Leone Scow, his mother’s sister. “Uncle Harold has taken a turn for the worse,” she said. “They don’t think he will make it through the night.”

  Gacy looked at his silent houseguest. “I have a few things to attend to, but I will be at the hospital as soon as I can get there, within the hour.”

  “Hurry, John,” Aunt Leone said through stifled tears. “It’s time.”

  It seemed that John Gacy was surrounded by death, a death merchant that drew death toward him. Now he had to go and perhaps watch some other poor schmuck gasp his last breath, unless he kicked it before John arrived. “Fuck, this is bullshit,” he grumbled as he lumbered grudgingly down the hall back toward the rec room.

  He surveyed the room. There were two half-empty bottles of beer, one on the small table next to his chair and one on the bar; some IRS forms and an application for employment, which had floated to the floor when Rob involuntarily released his grasp on them; and a light blue parka draped over a barstool. Otherwise, the room was in its normal meticulously kept condition. Gacy was a fastidious housekeeper, a “Felix,” a place for everything and everything in its place. He emptied the beer bottles into the kitchen sink and pitched the empties into the garbage. He groaned as he bent down to pick up the papers off the floor and groused silently about how he was getting older. I can’t even touch my toes anymore, he thought. He put the papers back in his office, in the filing cabinet where they belonged, passing Rob’s corpse on the bed in his room as he wandered about as if it wasn’t even there. He picked up the parka and checked the pockets. He pulled a piece of paper from the right one. It was a receipt from Nisson Pharmacy for photograph development. “I guess the kid won’t be picking up those pictures,” Gacy was muttering to himself.

  He wasn’t crazy about the fact that he had to go out into the cold winter night to Northwest Hospital to tend to his aunt Leone and his uncle Harold and any gathering relatives, but he had become the go-to guy in the family, the strong shoulder. He had no choice in the matter. The women needed him. He absentmindedly dropped the photograph receipt into the garbage can in the kitchen and put the blue parka by the back door. He would dispose of that later, when he went out. How incongruous a sight—here was this frumpy, middle-aged community leader wandering back and forth from room to room in his stocking feet, shirt untucked from bending over, scratching his belly from time to time, doing light housework, straightening up his little home, and all the while, the dead body of a young boy was getting cold on his own bed.

  Gacy let the dog in, went to his bedroom, and stripped Rob’s clothes off of him, folded them, and stacked them into a neat pile. The underwear had been soiled, so he put them in a separate plastic bag. He picked up the pile and added it to the parka waiting by the back door for ultimate disposal. He got into the shower and scrubbed off the evening’s events and watched them circle the drain, shaved, and dressed in slacks and a shirt suitable for the impending hospital visit.

  The telephone rang again. It was just past 10:30 p.m. The voice of one of his valued employees, David Cram, came over the line, saying something about Christmas trees. Gacy explained that he was going out and would call him tomorrow. His uncle was dying. On his way out the door, he picked up the neat stack of Rob’s clothes. He looked at the blue parka. Why would I throw this away? It’s a nice coat. Someone I know might want it, maybe Dave or Mike. He brought the coat into the utility room of his house and left it there. En route to the hospital, John dropped the rest of Rob’s clothes into a Salvation Army donation box in a strip mall not far from the house. He tossed the plastic bag into a nearby trash can. Then he continued on to Northwest Hospital.

  Rob Piest’s naked young body remained where John had placed it, in the stark, cold bedroom of a madman.
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  JOHN GACY WOKE the next morning at 6:00 a.m. He had a busy morning ahead. The naked deceased form that was once Robert Piest was lying on the bed next to him. Gacy lay there, momentarily thinking about his situation.

  He had arrived at Northwest Hospital at around 11:00 p.m. the previous evening, but when he entered his uncle Harold’s room, it was empty. Nobody was there, not even Uncle Harold. He had passed away during the hour that John had spent tidying up and rushing to the hospital. His corpse had been transferred to the morgue, and Aunt Leone and any other visitors had left the hospital. Now they were mourners, not visitors.

  John decided to drive over to Aunt Leone’s house at 7304 W. Cullom Street, but when he arrived there, it was clear that no one was home. The house was dark, doors locked tight. John looked down the block to 7300 W. Cullom, the home of Aunt Leone’s brother. There the lights were blazing, including the Christmas lights. Everybody must be over there, John thought, so he parked and went to the door.

  John spent the requisite time consoling his aunt Leone and her daughter, Joyce Konakowski. He offered appropriate condolences to all, patted hands, hugged relatives, had a beer with them; but at about 11:50 p.m., he begged off, saying that he had an early morning. He promised that he would call his mother and his sister in Arkansas first thing after he woke and break the sad news.

  Now, with less than six hours of sleep, he was going to be hard-pressed to accomplish all the things that he had to do. Plus, he had the meeting scheduled in an hour at his house with Richard Raphael, the business associate and friend that he had blown off the night before. “That fucker will be right on time too, the punctual prick,” he said out loud to no one. He looked at the corpse lying next to him and thought, You can’t be here when we start the meeting. That would be a distraction. But what to do? There wasn’t a lot of time.

  John was naked, but for dingy white underwear. No time to waste, though; so he stood up, stretched, shook off sleep, and reached for his bedmate’s arm and pulled the body close to the edge of the bed. He bent down and got under as much of Rob’s corpse as he could. He lifted with his legs, shifted and adjusted until he could hoist the 150-pound body over his shoulder, fireman-style.

  It had been eight hours since life had coursed through Rob Piest, and rigor mortis was nearly complete. The sounds of snapping and cracking that emanated from the stiffened body, together with the gurgling of transferring fluids and the release of air from the lungs would have made the average pro linebacker pass right out. Gacy simply considered this whole matter one big necessary pain in the ass, like he considered most physical chores. Grunting and sputtering like a sumo wrestler, he trudged to the hall where the trapdoor to the attic was. He balanced his load, then reached for the tiny rope loop on the trapdoor. The door was enhanced by a spring mechanism, and it opened easily. A telescoping ladder unfolded and came to rest on the floor in front of him.

  Gacy was strong, but he was flabby and noticing his age. Beads of perspiration exploded off his face and neck and dripped to the carpet. He took each step of the ladder as though he was working with free weights, but soon he had Rob’s remains stored just to the right of the trapdoor in the attic. “That is good enough,” he groaned, letting out a huge breath and wiping sweat from his brow with his forearm. He raised the ladder and the trapdoor, and it closed. Nothing looked out of place. John dragged his sweaty, naked fleshy and overweight white body back down the hall toward the bathroom, picking his underwear out of his butt crack and bitching and moaning about what a pain in the ass that was. “Why the fuck did I make a stupid appointment at seven fucking o’clock in the motherfucking morning at my own goddamn house? Jeez!”

  John remembered that it was his duty to call his mother and tell her about the death of Uncle Harold. He had volunteered to be the one to notify her the night before. He was worried, however, about how long his mother would keep him on the goddamn telephone. He had shit to do. He decided that she would just have to understand that he had business to attend to and would have to cut the phone call short.

  When Richard Raphael arrived at John Gacy’s house with another business associate and friend, Gordon Nebel, at 7:00 a.m. sharp, Gacy had shit, showered and shaved, let the dog out, called his mom, made coffee, and put out a coffee cake. He greeted them with his standard-issue ear-to-ear smile. There was absolutely no hint that anything was amiss. The fact that John had failed to make the appointment the night before was quickly forgotten, especially when his guests heard about poor Uncle Harold.

  The Chicago Bears had lost Coach Jack Pardee to the Washington Redskins at the end of the 1977 season, and the new coach, Neil Armstrong, was leading the team to a dismal, losing season in 1978. This became the topic of discussion between the men for the first part of the meeting. “Fuckin’ Bears,” they all agreed. The one bright spot: the Bears had beaten the hated Green Bay Packers, 14–0, on Sunday and were looking forward to a grudge match against Pardee’s Redskins next weekend.

  Soon the conversation turned to business; however, just as the men began to get to the crux of the intended issues for discussion, a shopping center job, the phone rang. John considered letting the answering machine get it but thought better of that. He went ahead and answered the telephone while Raphael and Nebel continued to discuss the job. As it turned out, the phone call would prove to be somewhat important, at least to John.

  “Mr. Gacy, my name is Officer Adams from the Des Plaines Police Department. We are investigating the disappearance of a teenage boy that worked at Nisson Pharmacy. We understand that you were at the pharmacy last night, and we are wondering if you could help us out.”

  The blood drained from Gacy’s face, and his heart jumped into his mouth; but outwardly he appeared quite calm. “How can I help you?” John asked tentatively. “What could I possibly do?”

  “Well, the parents of the boy are very concerned, as you might imagine. They are here at the station with me right now, and we were wondering if you could shed any light on this matter. The boy’s name is Robert Piest. There is some indication that he was going to ask you for a job. Did he do that, Mr. Gacy? Did you meet or talk to him last night?”

  “I met several kids at the pharmacy. Most of them were girls. I saw boys working there. Was this kid tall or short? I did not talk to any of the boys, or, at least, not to get their names. I talked to Linda with the brown hair and glasses. I might have asked one boy if there was any more shelving in the back. I don’t know . . . does that help?”

  “Did any young man ask you for a job, or did you offer a job to any of the young men?”

  “Absolutely not . . . no, I did not. No job offer.”

  “Did you see or talk to any of the employees outside of the pharmacy . . . after you left the pharmacy?”

  “There was a kid taking out trash.”

  “Did you speak to him?

  “No, why would I? No, of course I didn’t. I just got into my truck and left.”

  “Did you see anything at all that seemed unusual, sir?”

  “I’ll be honest with you, Officer—I just got into my truck and left. I wasn’t paying a lot of attention to the pharmacy at that time. I was finished there.”

  “I see. Well, let me give you a number to call in case you think of something that might help us. Would that be OK? Do you have a pen, sir?”

  “Yeah, sure . . .” John scratched out a number on a piece of paper and hung up the phone.

  John Gacy downplayed the hell out of the importance of the call when his business associates asked him what it was all about. “It was nothing. Some kid is missing, and he worked at a place where I was bidding a job last night. They wondered if I saw anything. No big deal. Cops . . . what the fuck do they know?” The men were back to business without much hesitation.

  When the meeting broke up later that day and John was once again alone in his house, he busied himself with paperwork and mundane chores. Of course, he knew that he had a pressing task ahead of him, but it was broad daylight, not the best time of day to dispose of a body. He called Nisson Pharmacy at approximately 5:00 p.m. Larry Torf answered, and John asked if Phil was around. Phil and John were closer friends than John and Larry were, and John thought he might be able to pry information about the police investigation out of Phil without making him suspicious. To John’s dismay, Phil was not in. Therefore, John spoke to Larry about the job, asking if the glass company had communicated with him, if delivery had been set up—perfunctory nonsense to justify the call.

  John had made plans to take his aunt Leone and her daughter, Joyce, out to dinner, and he believed that his best course of action was to go about his normal business. To that end, he was in front of Leone’s house at 6:00 p.m., as planned. He had no idea whether or not unknown forces were gathering against him, but he figured that he might as well not worry about things that had not yet happened. There would be plenty of time to worry about such things once they happened—if they happened. He was a bit concerned about the call from Officer Adams; however, what could he do about it? He decided to put it out of his mind. After all, what did cops know? He took Leone and Joyce to the Sizzler Restaurant on Harlem Avenue near the Harlem Irving Plaza and had a nice dinner where he further consoled his loved ones and reminisced about good old Uncle Harold.

  When John returned home, he called his employee and friend Michael Rossi. They had previously spoken about going out to procure a Christmas tree for Gacy’s house. Rossi said he would come over around 9:00 p.m. or a little after that.

  _________________

  WHAT JOHN GACY did not know was that forces were, in fact, conspiring against him, so to speak; and, perhaps, he should have been worried—very worried.

  When Rob Piest did not return home the previous evening, his parents sprang into action. They did not wait. They did not dally. They knew their son. His two siblings knew their brother. Rob would not have just disappeared without a word. He was not a troubled kid. He was not a runaway. He was a good, responsible, conscientious young man who had a great relationship with a loving, caring, attentive family. After calling all of Rob’s closest friends and acquaintances, calling Nisson Pharmacy and speaking with Phil Torf and obtaining John Gacy’s home number, after personally calling John Gacy’s house and talking to an answering machine, Harold Piest, together with his wife, Elizabeth, and their children, Ken and Kerry, decided it was time to go to the police. The family did not want to admit it, but they all knew something was very wrong.

  Missing person reports had always been considered routine by police departments all across the country. In many cases, it was stated policy to wait twenty-four hours before even beginning the concerted process that went into a lengthy and expensive search. This was not because the police departments, and their collective members, did not care deeply about each missing person reported. It was because so often, frankly, in most cases, the reported missing person would turn up in short order with some lame and embarrassing excuse concerning where they were, or, particularly in the case of teenagers, the missing person had voluntarily, purposefully left home, the typical runaway. Therefore, it was often a tall hurdle for the family of a missing person to impress upon a specific desk sergeant or watch commander that their “missing” person was somehow different from all of the other “missing” persons.

  This was not a problem for the members of the Piest family, however. When the four remaining members of the Harold Piest family walked into the Des Plaines Police Department sometime just before 11:00 p.m., united in their purpose and solidified in their resolve, they were a force of nature. They first spoke to the watch officer, George Konieczny.

  Although Officer Konieczny explained that at that hour all he could do was take down the information regarding Rob’s disappearance and move it through the system—and he advised the Piest family that they should go home and wait for a call from the detective in charge of the case—he was inspired by the obvious concern that was evident on the part of the family. He finished his report at 11:50 p.m. and added a personal note to the report, which emphasized the concern and believability of the family with whom he had met. He had his watch commander sign off on the report and immediately transmitted the pertinent information contained therein to the radio room. The statistical information contained in the City of Des Plaines Police Department case report #78-35203 concerning Robert Jerome Piest, male, Caucasian, age fifteen, slender to medium build, brown hair, brown eyes, tan Levi’s jeans, white T-shirt, brown suede shoes, light blue nylon parka, last seen in the area of 1920 Touhy Avenue, Des Plaines, was sent out to every Illinois jurisdiction over LEADS (Law Enforcement Agencies Data System) within two hours.

  The Piest family left the police station and drove the short distance to the family home. They were beside themselves with worry. They had no intention of waiting for word from some unnamed, yet-to-be–assigned-to-the-case detective. They immediately split up into a makeshift search party using the two family German shepherds to assist them. Harold, Ken, and Kerry spent the entire night searching every dark corner of the city of Des Plaines and the immediate surrounding area while Elizabeth stared at the silent telephone, waiting for it to ring, and wept. If Rob was hurt and in some bushes or in a forest preserve somewhere, they were going to find him. They could not sit idly by while the wheels of the government bureaucracy slowly churned.

  At 8:30 a.m., the exhausted, sleep-deprived troop trudged back into the Des Plaines Police Department. They asked the officer at the front desk if they could see the youth officer assigned to the case. At least they could put a name and a face to the person that would be helping them find Rob.

  They were led past bustling uniformed officers attending to this and that, the organized chaos of the inner offices of a busy police department. Finally, they were shown into a conference room where Officer Ronald Adams joined them, holding a copy of Officer Konieczny’s report. Officer Adams perused the report and eyed the personal Post-it note attached. He looked at the determined family in front of him, and he too was immediately convinced that this was no typical runaway case. He had been in the youth division for six years and had handled many claims of “missing” teens. Experience told him that this claim was real. He suspected foul play but did not tell the family that. He asked the Piests to remain in the conference room while he went to his office and began making telephone calls.

  When Officer Adams retuned to the conference room about a half hour later, he did not have good news.

  “I spoke to Phil Torf. He has not seen or heard from Rob. I asked him about Mr. Gacy. He confirms that Mr. Gacy was at the store twice last night, once to discuss a remodeling job and again because he forgot his appointment book. He does confirm that Mr. Gacy had mentioned that he too hired highschool boys to work for his contracting business. This was in the context of a conversation concerning Mr. Torf’s many young highschool–aged employees. Mr. Torf never saw Rob talking to Mr. Gacy. He said that after you called him last night, he called Mr. Gacy but spoke only to the answering machine. Mr. Gacy has not yet returned the call.”

  Officer Adams was looking at an array of disappointed and dejected faces.

  “I also talked to Mr. Gacy . . .”

  These words elicited an immediate response.

  “You talked to him?” was the chorus from the momentarily hopeful family.

  “Yes, I talked to him. He confirms that he was at the pharmacy last night but insists that he did not meet Rob or speak to him. He says he did not offer anyone a job.”

  After all faces fell, Officer Adams went on to explain that at Phil Torf’s suggestion, he had also talked to Kim Byers, another young employee at the pharmacy. She specifically stated that at around 9:00 p.m., Rob had told her that “that contractor guy wants to talk to me” just before he ran out the door. However, she had not actually seen Rob talking to Mr. Gacy either inside or outside the pharmacy.

  Then Officer Adams launched into an all-too-practiced soliloquy about the necessity for the family to allow the police to do their job. It was a bad idea and quite improper for family members to intrude into an ongoing missing person investigation, and at times, it could be dangerous. It was best if the family went home and waited for developments. They would be the first persons contacted, of course, as soon as there was any update in the search.

  The family thanked the officer and left the station, dejected and broken, their hopes for a quick resolution to their nightmare dashed.

  Officer Adams later discussed the matter with his lieutenant, Joseph Kozenczak. He was not in any way giving up on the case. Lieutenant Kozenczak, after having read Konieczny’s report with the personal note attached and having discussed the facts with Adams, was easily convinced that the matter was urgent. He gave the go-ahead to pursue the matter posthaste with an emphasis on their suspect and the last person reported to have seen Rob Piest, one John Wayne Gacy; and he assigned another officer, James Pickell, to help out. At 3:00 p.m., a fourth member of the force joined the team working on the case. A young detective, Mike Olsen, came in early to help the others. He and Adams used a copy of the Maine West Highschool student directory, which had been given to them by the Piest family, to contact all of Rob’s friends from school.

  The other officers used police channels and shoe leather to check to see if Mr. Gacy had a criminal record of any kind and for any other pertinent information about the case.

  By the evening of December 12, the Des Plaines police knew the following about case #78-35203 and the suspect, John Wayne Gacy:

  The black 1979 Oldsmobile that John Gacy drove, bearing license plate number PDM 42, was registered to PDM Contractors Corporation, as was the Chevrolet pickup with the snowplow attached.

  Not a single friend or relative of Robert Jerome Piest had seen or heard from him since nine o’clock the previous evening.

  Not a single friend or relative of Robert Jerome Piest considered him a likely candidate to run away from home. He had no recent troubles, no problems at school, no fights with girlfriends, friends, or family. He was a good student, an athlete, a hard worker, and a responsible young adult.

  Linda Mertes confirmed that she had spoken to Robert Jerome Piest about the fact that John Wayne Gacy said that he hired his new employees at a starting pay of $5 per hour. She had specifically, although jokingly, mentioned that Rob should get a job with Gacy.

  Kim Byers confirmed that Robert Jerome Piest had told her that he was going to talk to some contractor about a job just before he left Nisson Pharmacy at approximately nine o’clock the previous evening.

  Elizabeth Piest confirmed that Robert Jerome Piest had told her that he was going to talk to a contractor about a new job just before he left Nisson Pharmacy at approximately nine o’clock the previous evening.

  John Wayne Gacy had been arrested and convicted for the crime of sodomy in Waterloo, Iowa, and had been sentenced to ten years in the Iowa Men’s Reformatory at Anamosa on May 20, 1968. He had been granted early release and had been paroled to Chicago, Illinois, on June 19, 1970.

  John Wayne Gacy had been arrested and charged with aggravated battery and reckless conduct on June 22, 1972, in Northbrook, Illinois. This case had been dismissed.

  John Wayne Gacy had been arrested and charged with battery on July 15, 1978, in Chicago, Illinois, Sixteenth District, and said charge was pending and unresolved.

  Needless to say, John Wayne Gacy became the primary suspect in the disappearance of Robert Jerome Piest. There was evidence of both deviant and violent behavior in his past. As far as anyone knew, Gacy was the last person to see Rob. It was time to pay this guy a visit. It was time for Mr. Gacy to go on the record.

  After a twelve-hour day, Officer Adams had family matters to attend to at home; however, he was replaced by Detective David Sommerschield, who was brought up to speed by the other officers. Somebody said it. No one remembers who, but it got said; and unfortunately, all agreed:

  “We have to get this motherfucker. This son of a bitch is either holding . . . or, more likely, has done something much worse to Rob Piest, no fucking question about it.”

  Sometime around 9:00 p.m., exactly twenty-four hours since the last time anyone had seen Rob Piest, the four police officers piled into two unmarked squads—Kozenczak and Pickell in one, Olsen and Sommerschield in the other—and screeched out of the dark garage of the Des Plaines police headquarters, headed for the home of John Wayne Gacy. They had no clue what to expect when they arrived.

  Rob Piest’s body remained resting silently in the attic above the hallway in Gacy’s house.

  _______________________

  MICHAEL ROSSI HAD worked for PDM Contractors for about two years and, along with David Cram, had become a trusted and essential member of John Gacy’s contracting business and one of Gacy’s best friends, in spite of the nearly twenty years that separated their ages. Rossi had learned enough about the business to run jobs on his own, thereby freeing Gacy to take in more work. He had begun his employment as a green sixteen-year-old kid but had matured into an integral cog in the success of PDM Contractors.

OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-Bold.otf


OEBPS/Images/cover.jpg
JOHN WAYNE -

DEFENDING A MONSTER

THE TRUE STORY OF THE LAWYER WHO DEFENDED
ONE OF THE MOST EVIL SERIAL KILLERS IN HISTORY
R (e

UPDATED
REVISED






OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-BoldIt.otf


OEBPS/Images/half.jpg
JOHN WAYNE GACY





OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-Regular.otf


OEBPS/Images/title.jpg
JOHN WAYNE GACY

DEFENDING A MONSTER

JUDGE SAM L. AMIRANTE
AND
DANNY BRODERICK

Skyhorse Publishing





OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-It.otf


OEBPS/Images/7-1.jpg





